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Ancient St. John’s
To lecture about Ancient St. 

John’s and to give you any new and 
Interesting matter is not an easy 
task, neither is it easy to picture to 
you what St. John's was ike in the 
past. To give an account of the 
city, with details of its growth and 
boundaries, is not my intention, as 
I have neither the time nor ability 
to do the subject proper justice, 
therefore the present lecture is 
merely a recital of some facts which 
may be of interest to you, and such 
as I have gathered from historical 
records and from the lips of those 
who remembered St. John's a cen­
tury ago.

Who first discovered St John's, 
and who named it, is not recorded in 
history. The name does not ap­
pear on any of the earliest charts 
of North America, its first appear­
ance on a chart is in that of Desclir 
of 1546, but we have a record of a 
'etter, written from St. John's in 
1527 in which Rut says “On the 
third day of August, entered into a 
Rood harbour called St. John's and 
there we found eleven sail of 
Normands and one Breton and two 
Portugal barks all a-flshing.

It has been asserted by two writ­
ers on Newfoundland that John 
Cabot, discovered and named St. 
John’s on St. John's day, 1497, the 
date on which he first saw the land 
of America. On an examination of 
the account of John Cabot’s voyage 
t can find no authority for this 
assertion, it has also been asserted 
that Cape Bonavista was the land- 
fa’l of Cabot and it was stoutly

maintained by the late Judge 
Prowse that such was the case.

Messrs Barrisse, Dawson, Biggar 
and others however, maintain that 
the land fall was Cape Breton. In 
the Encyclopedia Brittannica, under 
the head of “John Cabot,’’ giving 
the Cabot Biography, by H. P. Big- 
gar, as we l as in the "Cabot voy­
ages to North America and Green­
land" and in “Revue Hispanique" the 
land fall of Cabot is spoken of as 
some place on the American Con­
tinent and not Newfound'and. But 
suppose we allow that Cape Bona­
vista was the land fall of Cabot, 
we have It on record that he made 
the land with a large island lying 
off it, on the 24th. of June (St. 
John's day) 1497. He had been 57 
day at sea in a Caravel of fifty tons 
and it is likely that when he made 
the land he at once sought an 
anchorage in order to obtain wood 
and water and to clean his ship; for 
in those days, when anti-fouling 
paints were unknown, vessels’ bot­
toms had to be frequently cleaned 
during a long voyage, moreover we 
are told that such was the case, for 
It is recorded, after he landed “the 
Royal banner was unfurled and in 
solemn form Cabot took possession 
of the country in the name of King 
Henry VII. etc. etc. Having takou 
on board wood and water, prepar­
ations were made to return home aa 
quickly as possible and he sailed 
north 300 miles." Judge Prowse 
maintained that tradition showed 
that Cabot anchored in King’s Cove, 
which was, as he asserted, the King's
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port, and that Cabot put his vesse 
on shore at Keels and cleaned her. 
If we grant all this then Cabot did 
not enter St. John's on St. John's 
Day, even if he sailed south. Fur­
ther supposing that he did make 
the landfall of Bonavista early in 
the morning of St. John's day and 
that he coasted south, which is not 
proved, he would sail some distance 
into Trinity Bay before he discover­
ed that it was a Bay, and likewise 
into Conception Bay, thus delaying 
his progress south. But a great 
deal wou'd depend upon the weather 
and the wind as to how long it 
would take him to reach St. John’s 
from Cape Bonavista. Then in sail 
ing along the coast with a fair or 
'eading wind he would actually 
pass St. John's before he would 
discover it, as he would keep off 
to clear Cape Spear or else get em­
bayed. Historians differ about the 
course that Cabot took after he 
made the land, when he coasted for 
300 mi’es, but there is a concensus 
of opinion among the majority of 
them, that if Cape Bonavista was his 
landfall, he coasted north from 
there and not south, as the pre­
vailing winds on the south coast a’ 
the end of June and beginning of 
July wou’d be S. W. and the coast 
with that wind is invariably en­
veloped in fog. he could not have 
coasted south 300 miles or that 
distance west as time did not per­
mit. I am strong’y of opinion th.it 
John Cabot never saw St. John's. 
On his second voyage he made 
Greenland and coasted from there 
to Nova Scotia and as far south as 
38 when provisions getting short he 
returned to England late in the 
autumn of 1498 and not long 
afterwards he died.

The name of St. John’s, like manv 
names around our coast, I have

very little doubt, was given bj some 
of the Covers of the Channel Islands. 
If the nomenclature of Newfound­
land is enquired into very careful'y 
it will be found that many names 
are a repetition of names of places 
in Jersey or Guernsey. It wou'd 
take me too long to go into this sub 
ject, but I will instance three places 
on the northeast peninsula, Croque. 
Conche and Brehat Bay. Croqu is 
a point and p ace on the N. VV. 
coast of Guernsey, and La Conchee 
is just off It. Brehat, on the Nor­
man coast, southwest of the Channel 
Islands, was the harbour inside of 
Brehat Island where the Guernsey 
and Jersey vessels were moored 
during the winter time, as in those 
days there were no made harbours 
in those islands. Many names of 
p'aces on our coast are of Norman 
French origin and no one. unless 
acquainted with the old Norman 
language as spoken by the Channel 
Islanders, ran trace the origin of 
the many so ca'led French names; 
take for example, Gaultois, an at­
tempt to spell in French a name 
that is not in that language. French­
men wonder at it and call it an 
English name, but there is an o'd 
Norman-French word that flits the 
place exactly, viz: Galtas, meaning 
pinnacly or 'ike an attic or dormer.

As before noted Rut was in St. 
John’s in 1527 and found there 
eleven sails of Normans. At that 
period the Channel Islands were 
known as the Neman Is'ands and 
all who hailed from there were 
called Normans. One hundred 
years ago a tradition existed in 
Jersey that the fishermen of that 
Island when going to Iceland, 
where they were in the habit of 
fishing from 1260, were driven 
away to the westward by a north­
east gale, and made land to the
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westward where codfish were num­
erous, and that their discovery was 
kept to themselves for over two 
years. It was also asserted that a 
ship belonging to DuMoulin was !n 
the harbour of St. John’s in 1500. 
Now it is a remarkable coincidence 
that on the northeast of ihe is'and 
of Jersey, St John's Bay, Pe it 
Port and Bouley Bay are contiguous 
and that here in Newfoundland we 
have St. John's Bay, Petty Har­
bour and Bay Bulls, or Boulee Bay 
as it is written on a'l the earlv 
charts. I leave you to draw your 
own conclusions as to where the 
name was derived.

That St. John's was an important 
h.Tbour in the early days of its 
discovery is evident from the num­
ber of distinguished visitors who 
have been recorded as visiting it, 
and the frequent appeal to arms, 
lor its retention by England or 
France.

It was here in 1542 that Jacquès 
Cartier, who had waited for near y 
two years at Hochelga (Montreal) 
for his Seigneur, unexpectedly 
found Roberval with three ships 
ful‘ of men, women and children, 
and it was here that Roberval tried 
every persuasion to retain him in 
his company.

In 1578 Whitbourne visited here 
and later in 1583.

Here Sir Humph :ey Gilbert, in 
1583 took possession of ihe harbor 
and surrounding country in the 
name of Queen Eliazbeth, making 
a great disp ay and levying toll up­
on all the vessels then in the port. 
This was indeed a notable day for 
St John’s'. Sir Humphrey Gilbert 
had under his command a feet of 
four vessels; the “Delight" of one 
hundred and twenty tons, of which 
he had command, the “Golden Hind" 
of forty tons, Edward Hayes, own­

er and captain; the "Swallow” of 
forty tons, Maurice Brown, captain 
and the “Squirrel” of ten tons, Mr. 
Wm. Andrew, Captain. On board 
this fleet were about two hundred 
and sixty men. On the 14th. of 
August, of the year before mention­
ed, the fleet, which had separated 
in a fog, met the little “Squirrel” 
in St. John's Bay, the ’atter had 
been denied admittance to the hu”- 
nor and lay outside. According o 
Hakluyt, the harbour was occupied 
by thirty six vessels of different 
nations, but according to Dr. Fost­
er, there was a much larger number 
of which a large proportion were 
Portuguese. Sir Humphrey prepar­
ed to force a passage and informed 
the people within the harbour that 
he was empowered to take possess­
ion of the place, and would do so. 
Their answer being for peace, the 
ships then entered, and on the follow­
ing day, the 5th. August, he erect­
ed a tent within sight of all the 
ships, summoned the English and 
foreign merchants to attend, and in 
their presence caused the Commiss­
ion under the Great Seal of Eng­
land to be publicly read, and took 
possession of the adjacent lands In 
the name of Queen Elizabeth of 
England.

It is not definitely recorded 
whether there existed at that time 
any dwelling houses in St. John’s, 
but it is well known that stages, 
storehouses and flakes existed, for 
on several occasions disputes hau 
arisen with respect to ownership, 
and in 1582 Sir Thomas Hampshire 
was sent to Newfoundland with five 
ships, author'zed "to secure everv 
master of a fishing crew the pro­
perty of that fishing room which he 
made the object of his choice, as 
long as he kept it employed for 
the use of the fishery." When peace
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was being negotiated with Prance 
in 1761 ihe proceedings were sud 
tieiily stopped by the intrus on of 
Spain with a renewed claim of right 
to fish in Newfoundland waters. 
The English ambassador of Madrid 
in writing to the Prime Minister of 
England, Mr. Pitt said: “I had in ithe 
clearest terms I could make use of 
showed that the first discovery of 
the island was made at the expense 
and command of Henry VII and 1 
had likewise demonstrated the un­
interrupted possession of it from 
that time to the present date to 
have belonged to the English, from 
their being constantly settled there."

A writer in 1812, writing of 
Quebec which was founded in 1603 
speaks also of dwellings in St. 
John’s in Newfoundland, existing 
before that period, and it is also be­
lieved that after Sir Humphrey 
Gilbert’s visit, "expeditions multip­
lied so rapidly that in the year 1615 
upwards of two hundred and fifty 
English vessels, carrying altogether 
more than 15,000 tons, were em- 
employed along these coasts. F:xed 
habitations were formed which grad 
ually extended on the eastern side 
from St. John’s and Thorne Bay or 
Torbay to Cape Race." From the 
foregoing evidence it is certain that 
there was a settlement In St. John's 
prior to the arrival and settle­
ment of Guy in Conception Bay.

Henry Hudson, the celebrated 
navigator, whose name is best 
known in connection with the River 
Hudson in the State of New York, 
visited St. John’s in 1609, and in 
1614 Whitbourne was sent to New­
foundland with a commission from 
the Admiralty, authorizing him to 
"empannel jurors, and to inquire 
upon oath of divers abuses and dis­
orders, committed among tnose who 
carried on the fishery on that coast

In 1623 Sir George Calvert sent 
Captain Edward Wynne to coloniz: 
his new province of Avalon. Cap­
tain Wynne settled at Ferryland or 
Forrlllon, where "he built the lat g- 
est house ever yet seen on the Is­
land." From this we may judge 
that the houses in St. John's were 
mere huts. In 1654 Sir David Kirk 
obtained a grant of cer ain lands in 
Newfoundland, and it is recorded 
that “at that time settlements had 
been effected in fifteen different 
parts of the Island, the principal of 
which were St. John's, Ferryland 
and Quidl Vidi; the whole amount­
ing to upwards of three hundred 
families." In 1670 Sir Josiah Child 
induced the Government to p'evenl 
settlement by destroying the en­
tire Colony. A number of the set­
tlements were destroyed by Sir
John Berry, who strongly remon­
strated against this edict, St. John's 
however, was not interfered with. 
In 1696 a French force under D’lb- 
berville and Brouillon destroyed all 
the English settlements on the
coast including St. John’s. Here 
they found the fortress but weakly 
defended and easily captured. After 
setting fire to the fortress and to 
the town the place was abandoned, 
the English garrison being allowed 
to return to England in two ships. 
The settlements of Carbonear and 
Bonavista, being too ably defended. 
D’lbberville returned to Placentia.
The peace of Ryswick in 1698 re­
stored to each power all their pos­
sessions while as at the commence­
ment of the war, the French then 
proceeded to extend their settle­
ments and strengthen their posit­
ions, whilst the English discouraged 
permanent settlement in Newfound­
land and neglected their fortifi­
cations. St. John’s appears to have 
had a garrison and fortress as early
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as 1618, the fort was built on the 
site of the old Railway Depot, 
and lor many years was known as 
Fort William. All the buildings 
out one h tve been destroyed, but 
there existed one stone ouilding. 
prior to the advent of the Railway, 
which tradition said had been erect- 
e 1 by the French, but this I very 
much doubt as the French never 
held St. John's long enough ito erect 
any such building. In 1705 another 
attempt to capture St. John’s was 
made by the French, a strong party 
o five hundred men under the com­
mand of Subercase, set out from 
Placentia and marched to Petty Hr. 
and having reached the alter place 
they made a resolute attack on the 
two principal forts of St. John's but 
were repulsed. Failing in their at­
tempt on St. John’s, they ravaged 
the adjoining settlements spreading 
their devastations as far rn-rth as 
Bonavista. In 1708 a French fleet 
under Saint Ovide, visited and de­
stroyed the town on the first day of 
January; in less than half an hour 
Saint Ovide had taken both forts, 
the English having been taken so by 
surprise that no aitempt could be 
made to resist the attack. The forts 
were diamant ed and the town de­
stroyed before the French vessels 
sailed for France. St. John’s had 
but a small chance to grow in these 
troublesome times; with the fear of 
invasion by the French, the British 
laws prohibiting settlement, and the 
regulations enforced to enable the 
West-Country merchant to keep 
Newfoundland as a fishing preserve 
it is remarkable that so many peo­
ple did make this Colony their home. 
In 1713 the Treaty of Utrecht was 
signed and the French abandoned to 
Great Britain all territorial rights 
to Newfoundland. For the next fifty 
years St. John’s progressed a little. 
It was still nothing more than a

fishing station _ a rendezvous fdr 
x essels going to and coming from 
Europe, and a depot for a small gar­
rison, the latter subject to the offi­
cer commanding at Halifax. The 
building of a house of more than 
oie story was prohibited, flakes cov 
ered the sides of the hills which 
siope towards the waters of the 
harbor, and stages ined the water 
front now occupied by the merchants 
wharves No roads were to be seen 
anywhere, but many paths connect­
ed the various fishing rooms and 
one regular path led from Fort Wil­
liam to Sigual Hill. In 1728 Captain 
Henry Osborne was appointed to 
Newfoundland as the first Gover­
nor and took up his residence at 
St. John's; shortly after Justices of 
the Peace were appointed in the 
Island. In 1741 Captain the Hon. 
John Byng was appointed Gover­
nor and in his ship, the Sunderland, 
of sixty guns, made reprisals on 
Spanish ships, for at that time Eng­
land was at war with Spain and the 
latter’s ships of war and privateers 
ca’’ied their depredations on Brit­
ish commerce, in e'ery part of Eu­
rope and America, with great activ­
ity and boldness. Governo1' Byng 
had a squadron under his command 
by which means he not only most 
effectually protected the Newfound­
land trade and fisheries but a so 
succeeded in making very many cap­
tures from the enemy. All the 
prizes captured by Captain Bryng’s 
squadron were brought into St. 
John’s, which became of such im­
portance that a vice-Admiralty 
Court was established here and Wll 
liam Keen Esq., was appointed the 
first judge. Keen’s fishing room was 
situated nearly on the southeast cor 
ner of Water Street, and what is 
now known as Job’s Cove, that is 
where Parson’s and Hearn’s build­
ings stand. In Ju'y 1756 war again
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broke out between France and Eng 
land and all the ships and vessels 
employed by the French In New­
foundland were captured, many be­
ing brought into St. John's and 
disposed of. In this war France lost 
all her Canadian possessions. In 
176o the Governor, Capt. James 
Webb captured and brought into 
St. John’s the French ship Taving- 
non of St Malo with upwards of 
three thousand live hundred quin­
tals of dry fish; the whole of 
which capture produced, by public 
sale in St. John’s, the sum of two 
thousand five hundréd and seventy 
pounds. In 1761 Captain, afterwards 
Lord Graves, was appointed Gover­
nor. The naval force on the station 
was very inconsiderable at that 
time. England was engaged with 
Spain and France in negotiations for 
a permanent peace, but Spain had 
a desire to secure in these negotiat 
ions the privilege of fishing on the 
Banks of Newfoundland. On the 
17th December negotiations were 
broken off, war was declared in 
January 1762 and the importation 
of fish from Newfoundland into the 
Kingdom of Spain was prohibited. In 
May a French squadron under the 
command of M. de Ternay sailed 
from Brest, and on the 24th of June 
entered Bay Bulls and landed some 
troops which marched towards St. 
John’s. This place was not then in 
a proper state of defence. The gar­
rison consisted of only sixty three 
men, and there was at that time In 
the harbor the Gramont, sloop of 
war. After an ineffectual defence 
the town was surrendered, and the 
garrison and officers and men of the 
Gramont were made prisoners Sev­
ere'. merchant vessels, which were 
in port at the time, were seized, 
as well as every kind of property 
of any value. The French then pro­
ceeded to repair the fortifications

of the town and ha"bor, being de­
termined to keep possession of the 
place. The French squadron which 
was then assembled at St. John's, 
after devastating the coast from 
Bay Bulls to Trinity, consisted of 
the Robuste, of seventy-four guns, 
I’Eveille, of sixty four, La Garonne, 
of forty four, La Licorne, of thirty, 
and a bomb ketch; they had fifteen 
hundred so diers and a proportion­
able quantity of artillery and stores. 
The news of the capture of St. 
John’s was some time reaching the 
other Country, hut in the mean­
time Captain Douglas in the Syren, 
happening to be on a cruise to 
the southward of Newfoundland, re 
ceived information of the appear­
ance on that coast of a French 
suvulron with land forces, he en­
tered St. Mary’s harbor and despatch­
ed from thence two merchant ves­
sels, the brig William and sloop 
fionetta, with a petty officer of the 
Syren, on board each, to cruise for a 
stated time on the Ranks to inter­
cept the convoy daily expected from 
England and then to proceed with 
letters for General Amherst to 
Halifax, where they were to take in 
supplies and bring them to Placen­
tia. The Bonetta was more fortunate 
than the W!1 iam and Intercepted 
Governor Graves, in the Antelope, 
with a larsre fleet of merchantmen. 
The Bonetta was ordered to land 
a party of marines at Isle au Bois 
(Ferryland) and then to proceed to 
Halifax with the Governor’s and 
Captain Douglas’ despatches. Gover­
nor Graves put into Placentia and 
ordered the repairs of Fort Freder­
ick and Castle Hill and waited an­
xiously for re-inforcements from 
Halifax, Captain Douglas meantime 
superintended the fortifications at 
Ferryland On receipt of the de­
spatches, brought by the Bonetta. 
Lord Colvi’le, who was the Admiral
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in com mane, of the North American 
station, sailed from Halifax in his 
flagship the Northumberland and 
having looked into Bay Bulls, arriv­
ed off St. John’s harbor, which he 
blockaded, whi st M. de Ternay lay- 
inside with a superior squadron.

On the 11th September Colonel Am­
herst, with about eight hundred men, 
consisting of Highlanders and Provin­
cial Light Infantry, joined Lord Col­
ville’s squadron off St. John’s. The 
French had made every preparation to 
resist attack., they had sunk shallops 
in the narrow entrance of Quid! Vidi. 
and had very much strengthened Its 
fortifications, and those at the en­
trance of St. John’s, ahd at Signal 
Hill. Finding it no easy task to 
force the entrance of cither St. John’s 
or Quid! Vidi. the troops were landed, 
under a galling fire, at Torbay. Capt. 
McDonald, with his company, dispers­
ed the enemy, who retired oln St. 
John’s through the woods. Capt. Mc­
Donald followed by the sea coast path, 
and advanced on the strong post of 
Quidl Vidi. Capt. McKenzie, with an­
other company, advanced to the foot 
of the ridge or at the junctuie of the 
Portugal Cove and King’s Bridge 
Roads, and attacked the French posi­
tion from near where now stands the 
King’s Bridge, it was there that he 
was wounded. From a letter written 
by one of the eyewitnesses of the bat­
tle, It appears that the southern bank 
of Rennie's River and Quid! Vidi Lake 
were then thickly wooded and the 
French had skirmishers posted 
amongst the trees to resist the Eng­
lish advance. The river we are told 
was in flood just at that time showing 
that the September rains had com­
menced. Captain McDonald succeed­
ed In carrying the French position at 
Quidl Vidi, and opened up a com­
munication with the ships, for land­
ing the artillery and stores. He then

proceeded to dislodge the French 
from a position of great strength just 
over Quidi Vidi, and presumably that 
hill at the junction of the Cuckhold's 
Cove and Quidi Vidi Roads which ov­
erlooks and commands the entrance 
to that place. The French retreated 
with some precipitation, leaving some 
prisoners behind., but they still held 
Signal Hill and the town, and in or­
der to gain the latter it was necessary 
to storm the former. This was done 
by Captain McDonald at the head of 
his Highlanders and the Provincial 
Light Infantry. If you walk towards 
Quid! Vidi on the north side you will 
notice the ridge which runs up to Ith-c 
crest of Signal Hill, and you will see 
by a close investigation that it was 
an easy matter for McDonald's force 
to climb within a short distance of the 
fortifications without being seen. 
Thus it is that we are told he passed 
theFrench sentries and advance guard 
unobserved, nor was he discovered till 
the main body of French saw him 
climbing up the rocks and almost at 
the top, (that is the north-east crest 
of the hill) which he actually gained 
in the midst of the enemy’s fire, which 
he soon returned with such fierceness 
that the French gave way; the crest 
being taken the French force on the 
Crows Nest or Gibbet Hill was next 
destroyed. In this engagement the 
gallant captain received a morta'i 
wound, four of his men were killed 
and eigteen were wounded. It was on 
the 13th September that the English 
landed at Torbay, and on the 16th that 
Colonel Amherst proceeded vigorous­
ly in his preparations to attack Fort 
William and the town of St. John's. 
A breastwork and an unfinished fort 
which commanded the harbor being 
taken, the guns of Signal Hill were 
trained on the town. The shallops 
which had been sunk there by the 
French had to be removed In order
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that artillery and stores might be 
landed, and this was fortunately done 
before a violent gale of wind sprung 
up and drove Lord Colville’s squadron 
oft the coast. The French Admiral 
finding the blockading squadron 
away, slipped his cables and under the 
cover of a thick fog, made his escape 
without being seen by the English 
fleet, until he had got too far out to 
sea. On the night of the 17th Col­
onel Amherst opened fire on the town 
with a battery of one eight-inch mor­
tar, seven cohorns and six royals, 
which was replied to by a brisk fire 
from the fort, which threw several 
shells. The attack continued until the 
19th, but on the morning of the 20th 
the French, finding themselves aban­
doned by their fleet, at once capitulated 
and surrendered themselves prisoners 
of war, on condition of being convey­
ed to Brest by the first opportunity. 
This condition was complied with by 
Lord Colville who had by that time 
returned to the harbor. Thus with a 
small force of eight hundred land 
forces and three ships of war the 
French were driven from the shores 
of Newfoundland.

After the re-capture of St. John's by 
the English, much destitution prevail­
ed In the town and surrounding set­
tlements. The merchants complain­
ed that a number of Irish youngsters 
had been left in the Colony and that 
they were In indigent circumstances. 
The Governor was petitioned to have 
them sent home, and some were de­
ported. It has been said by some his­
torians that during the attack on St. 
John's and other settlements in the 
Colony that the men of the West Coun 
try were the principal fighters, there 
are no records to prove this statement 
buit it has been said by the old inhabit­
ants that whilst the West Country 
men were great fighters at sea, they

were surpassed on shore by the Irish 
youngsters.

The attack on St. John's and its 
capture by the French was keenly felt 
in Britain, and the Government, on its 
recapture, took more interest in its 
defences and in the general govern­
ment of the Colony. The defences 
were strengthened at St. John’s, and 
the first Custom House was establish­
ed in the Colony,, being stationed in 
St. John's. Hitherto a tax had been 
collected by the naval officers In com­
mand of the station; but this mode 
was changed by the appointment of 
Mr. Hamilton as the first civilian col­
lector of customs, who was under the 
control of the department In Boston, 
Mass., then capital of the North 
American colonies. The population of 
the whole Island at this period (1762) 
was reckoned at 13,000, only about 
one-half of whom were constant resi­
dents. The population of St. John’s 
must have been very small, as the most 
of the people appear to have been set­
tled in Conception Bay and Ferryland. 
Before Governor Graves left the Col­
ony, in the autumn of 1762, several of 
the inhabitants who aided in Its de­
fences had their services suitably ac­
knowledged. Mr. George Hutchings 
for his constant watch on the fleet of 
Admiral de Ternay, was awarded the 
land now known as the Hutchings es­
tate.

In 1764 Captain, afterwards Sir 
Hugh Palliser, was appointed to the 
Government o' the Colony, and he 
brought with him the celebrated Cap­
tain Cook, who upon his arrival In St. 
John's, was detailed to survey and 
make ? chart of the Island. Previous 
to this, however, in 1762, Captain 
Cook had surveyed the Islands of St. 
Pierre and Miquelon before they were 
surrendered to the French.

Under Governor Palliser’s adminis­
tration the navigation laws were ex-
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tended to St. John’, and laws made 
with respect to the payment of wages 
to th ! fisherman. These gave great 
offence to the West Country mer­
chants, and attempts were made to set 
them aside which proved futil 3. Un­
der his government, trade and 
population Increased, although settle­
ment was discouraged by him. He 
appeals to have had a poor opinion of 
the Island, and did his utmost to pre­
vent cultivation and settlement. Pal- 
llser had some trouble with th „• garri­
sons of both St. John’s and Placentia, 
and he ordered a number of house» 
which had been built about Fort Wil­
liam, to be hauled down. Th >se lions 
es had been looked upon by officers 
and soldiers as their private prop­
erty, and their d struct ion gave great 
offence. Palliser. no doubt, corrected 
many abusés. and one of his chief acts 
was the limiting of places wh ;re 
liquor could be sold. Prowse's His­
tory quotes an old record showing 
that Mr. William Newman was order­
ed to pull down his house because it 
had b -en sold to him by “a soldier in 
payment of debts contracted for liqu­
or and other unjustifiable dealings. 
Michael Gill’s house was to remain 
only during his life-time; no liquor to 
be sold th -re. And Wood's house was 
also to remain for his life-time under 
the same conditions."

At this period the persons in great­
est favour in St. John's app -ar to 
have been the Gills and the Keens, 
upon whom every kind of office was 
conferred. Michael Gill was Judge of 
the Vice-Admiralty Court, Keeper of 
the Rolls Public Auctioneer, Sole 
Sworn Broker, and Sole Notary Pub­
lic. His brother Nicholas also held 
offices.

In 1769 the Honourable John Byron, 
then a Captain in the navy—the grand 
father of the celebrated poet, was 
sworn in as Governor of Newfound­

land. Labrador. Magdalen Islands and 
Anticosti. During his administration 
many changes occurred in and about 
St. John's. Several grants were giv­
en for property, notably to Lieut. 
Pringle, of the Royal Engineers, ’’that 
piece of land which lies north of a 
river running into Quid! Vidi from 
the Cascade to a foot bridge which 
crosses the said river and to the south 
of Dover's Hill.” This is the piece 
of land which extends from the falls 
of Rennie's Riv r to the King's Bridge 
Robinson’s Hill was then called Dov­
er's Hill. This grant was executed 
on board H. M. S. Panther in 1771. 
and was in 1773 confirmed and re­
corded by Governor Shuldham.

In 1773 Governor Lo <1 Shuld­
ham was appoint, -d and a more rig­
orous colle lion of t :xes was enfor­
ce 1. As resistance to taxation by 
the Mo;he~ Country first commenc­
ed at Boston, so St. John's loud y 
protested against tho in reduction 
of further duties on the fishery 
which had always been almos free 
hence the reason why Governor 
Shvldhutn rigorously enforced the 
payment of duties.

The revolution in the American 
Colonies, which cu minuted in the 
outbreak of war in 1776, caused 
gréai une xsiness and distress in St 
John’s. An alarming apprehen­
sion of want prevailed and vessels 
we e dispatched to Ireland for pro 
visions. During this period many 
grants of l#nd were obtained. 
Friendly Ha l was granted to Alex 
under Dunn. Collector of Customs, 
and the Ellis's. Stripling’s. Gill's, 
Keen's and Williams's esta'es were 
at' obtained about tlijs time. In 
1773 Fort Townsliend was fl at com 
rnenced, and a road from Fort Wil 
liant to it begun, also the King's 
Road, and the road to Signal Hill 
was aid out. Upon the breaking
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out of the American War redoubts 
on the roads from the adjacent out 
po ts were erected. On the Tor- 
bay Hoad, at Cox's Marsh, two re­
doubts were formed mounting two 
18-|)0under carronades—each about 
a mile from Torbay. At Piperstock 
Hill—three guns were mounted. At 
the village of Torbay a battery of 
four long 6-]>ounder, with a guard­
house and a Se geant's week y com 
mand, was stationed. Two or threa 
guns were mounted on the rising 
ground near Twenty-Mile Pond, and 
there was also a guard-house and 
battery at Hayse's Farm on the 
Petty Harbor Road.

In 1775 much destruction of pro­
perty was caused by one of the 
heaviest storms known in Newfound 
land. Many fishing boa's and ves­
sels were destroyed and about three 
hundred pe sons lost their lives. 
The destruction of property on land 
especially in St. John's, was severe. 
Whilst great suffering and privation 
was experienced by reason of this 
gale, fit was greatly ac’entuated by 
the conduct of the Ame-ioan Colon­
ists, who having decreed in 1774 
that no intercourse of trade should 
be had with Newfoundland, the fol­
lowing year, put It into effect, and 
deprived us of the means of obtain 
ing food supplies for which we had 
been largely dependent on the Am­
erican Colonies. In this year of want 
our late Colonial b~ethren did their 
utmost to starve and destroy our 
trade.

In 1776 Rear Admira’ Montague 
was appoin'ed Governor, and he at 
once proceeded to take means to de 
fend the Colony from the attacks of 
the New England p-ivateers, which 
had done much damage on the 
coast during the previous year. The 
fastest sailing vessels in the trade, 
chiefly from St. John's, were man­

ned and armed, and being officered 
by men from H. M. Navy did good 
service in protecting the coast. 
Many A me iean privateers were cap 
tured and brought into St. John's.

During the American rebellion 
several changes of Governors ,ook 
pace. In 1778 a fleet was fitted 
out from St. John’s by Governor 
Montague, and St. Pierre and Mique­
lon were captured, and over 1900 
Frenchmen who were residing there 
were deported to France In 1770 
Rear Admital Edwards was appoin - 
ed Governor and the first Govern­
ment House was erected in St. 
John’s. This stood, previous to the 
fire of 1902, in a narrow lane 
named Duke of York 3 eet, run­
ning from Duckworth Street to Gow 
er Street, parallel with and east of 
Cochrane Street. The Gil s used to 
describe it as sur"ounded by a gar­
den which was known as “The Gar­
den.” Governor Edwards was ac­
companied by his daughters, and 
one of them left a sketch of St. 
John's made from the Reach which 
appears in Prowse's History as tak­
en in 1770. The date, howeve-, 
must have been 1780, as Miss Ed­
wards did not arrive here un'il 1779 
and no Highland soldiers were sta­
tioned in St. John’s until 1778, yet 
severa.' appear in the sketch.

One of the most notable events 
which occurred during Governor Ed 
ward's administration was the ap­
pointment by Pope Pius VI. of the 
Rev. James Louis O’Done^ O.S F., 
as Prefect Apostolic of the Island. 
In noting this event the late Arch­
bishop Howley says: “We may date 
the birth of the Catholic Church in 
■Newfound'cnd 'from this appoint­
ment.” Subsequently, in 1796. the 
Rev. J. L. O’Donel was consecrated 
Bishop in Quebec. He built the Old 
Chapel and the Old Palace, both of
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which stood on or near the land 
now occupied by the Star of the Sea 
Hall.

Fort Townshend, which was be­
gun in 1773 was finished in 1779. 
As there was no regular line of 
streets laid down, there was much 
irregularity in building. Governor 
Edwards ordered that the lower 
road (now Water Street) and the 
upper road (now Duckworth Street ) 
be kept twelve feet wide. The 
wid h of Water Street does not ap­
pear to have been kept to that 
gauge for as late as 1823 a cart 
could barely pass along the street 
near where now stands Garland’s 
bookstore.

A notab e event took place in 
1786, viz.: The a -ival in St. 
John's, for service on the naval sta­
tion, of Prince William Henry (af­
terwards Wliliam IV.) as Captain of 
H.M.S. Pegasus.

The inhabitants of St. John's 
were kept in a state of vigilant 
watchfulness during the year 1780 
as a la-ge French fleet and trans­
ports had sailed from France, the 
destination of which was supposed 
to be Newfoundland, but which af­
terwards arrived in the United Sta­
tes. After the American War the 
Home Government commenced the 
repairing and improving of the de­
fences of St .John's. Signal Hill 
was fortified, barracks were erected, 
and the first block house or Signal 
House was built then. The guns 
fo~ the fortifie.it'ous were parbuck­
led un the face of the cliff at Crow's 
Nest and Queen's Battery. Three 
furnares for heating shot were form 
ed, viz:-at Fort Fredrick on the 
Southside near Pancake rock, Fort 
Wil iam, and at Chain Rook Bat­
tery. A corps of volunteers was 
raised by Col. Skinner called the 
Newfoundland Fusileers, and so

many were the troops that suffic­
ient accomodation was not found 
for them in existing barracks. In 
1796 the garrison was ordered un­
der cover, and the barracks at Fort 
Townshend and Wi liam were re­
paired and enlarged and the new 
bar-acks at Signal Hill finished. 
The Block House was so far com­
pleted that six guns were mounted 
on the lower floor, and a sys'etn 
of signa s was arranged whereby 
the presence of an enemy's fleet 
might be made known. The first 
Block Ho -se was stationed on the 
northern eminence of Signal Hill; 
the sou'h point being occupied by 
a large platform of wood cal ed the 
Duke of York's Battery on which 
was mounted eight 24-pounder guns 
four 18-inch pounder carronades and 
two 10-inch n.ortars. A large chain 
had been fastened at Chain Rock 
and laid across the Narrows to a 
great capstan which stood at Pan­
cake. preparatory to being stretch­
ed across the Narrows when an en 
emy might appear. These prepar­
ations for defence had been scarce­
ly comple'ed when on the 1st Sep­
tember 1796, the signai' was made 
from the Block House for an en­
emy’s fleet to the southward. The 
signal consisted of a blue pennant 
hoist at the mast-head over the 
French flag.
The enemy proved to be the French 

Admiral—Ri ery—who had under 
his command seven sail of the line, 
two frigates and some smaller 
vessels. The signal of alarm and de­
fiance was at once made from Signal 
Hill aud at all the forts. Quite a 
number of vessels were In port, but 
only two ships of war the Gover­
nor’s ship and a frigate- The Gover­
nor. Admiral Sir ’«unes Wallace, 
immediately proclaimed martial law 
and ordered all men in the town fit



12

for service—-merchants and their 
servants, captains of vessels witfi 
their c.ews, planters with their fish­
ermen and shoremen—to muster in 
front of the camp where they were 
enrolled and told off to the forts 
and batteries Theie was only, one 
old man or a boy allowed to remain 
on each merchant's wharf, vessel or 
fishing room. A great many seamen 
were employe! in raising the chain 
across the narrows; the great cap­
stan at the South Side being assist­
ed by three schooners placed at equal 
distances from Chain Rock, and b> 
grappling the chain with their an­
chois, and heaving altogether they 
raised it to the surface sufficiently 
to prevent the entrance of any ves­
sel. The schooners were charged 
with combustibles and were i iten '- 
eel to be used as fire-ships on the 
enemy coming in contact with tiro 
chain. The flag-ship and the frigate 
were a'so pla ed at enfilading dis­
tance in the harbor to give the foe 
a warm re eption on entering the 
na rows.

The enemy stood off and on, near 
Cape Spear, all that day; and dur­
ing the night the Governor ordered 
the road to be opened from Mag- 
gotty Cove Bridge through the en­
close-es leading to Signal Kill in or­
der to expedite the transport of 
camp equipage, ammunition, stores, 
and provisions to that point. By 
daylight, on the second, the tents 
were all pitched on the summit of 
the hill, from Dube of York’s Bat­
tery to Cuekhold’s Head, and also 
on the South S'de Hill over Fort 
Am he'st. This war-like display of 
three or four thousand men on the 
hills appeared to have an intimidat­
ing effect on the enemy. A great 
deal of telegraphing and boat com­
munication took place with the 
flag-ship, and towards evening tae 
fleet stood a little further off to sea.

Reconnoitering parties we e sent out 
aion ; shoie north and south, day 
and night in anticipation of a land­
ing b Ing effected. On the third day 
the enemy formed line and stood in 
for the narrow*, when it was ex; ect- 
ed their intention was to attempt a 
landing, 'ihey stood on until tie 
fore.nost ship was near the ext! erne 
range of the guns at Fort Amhe: st 
when she and nil of them put a: out 
and stood off to sea. They re uaine.1 
in tight several days, and at last ar­
rived at Bay Bulls, where they la nd- 
ed and a ter diiving the Inhabitants 
to the woods burnt their stores end 
houses.

After the visit of Admiral Rirl:- 
ery’s fleet, the sincere and heartfelt 
thaaks of the mere ants of St. John’s 
were voted to Governor Wallace for 
his exertions in putting the town 
into such an ad I able state o de­
fence. In 1797 the Hon. W. Walde- 
grave was appointed Governor, aod 
upon his arriving here the mutiny 
of the Xore spread to this Co ony, 
and a rebellion I roke out on board 
H. M. S. Batons whilst lying la St. 
John’s ha bor It. was only quelled 
by the officers drawing their swords 
and the marines using their bayon­
ets On the following Sunday, Ad­
miral Waldegrave addressed the 
ship’s crew iaforming them that 
thei- great delegate —Barker—and 
many other of his atrocious com­
panions were hanged at the Move, 
and that he was prepared to pour 
hot shot into the Latona if there 
was any further sign of mutiny. 
In 1799 the first government school 
was opened In St. John’s, the Rev. L. 
Anspach be ng appointed head mas­
ter. Although the population of ,-t. 
John's was at this time not above 
5,000 over thirty public ho'ses 
were licensed. In the winter or 
1799 and the spring of 1800 a 
conspiracy was set on foot by cer-
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tain soldiers ot the troops station­
ed here, to destroy the fortili nat­
ions and l lunder the town. rh.i 
plot was discovered and twelve of 
the ring-leaders arrested, five ot 
whom were sentenced to be hanged 
and seven to be shot. The former 
were executed on a gallows at Gib­
bet Hill, and the others were sent 
to Halifax.

Having put before you a short 
historical account of St. John’s, to 
the opening of the 19th century, 1 
propose to give some idea of what 
it was like at this time. My ac­
count has been gathered from those 
who fifty years ago recounted their 
knowledge of the place as they 
knew it or as their fathers had 
known it. I also propose to quote 
from a work called “Family Recol­
lections,'* written by Miss Duvnfora, 
the daughter of Lieut-Col. Durn- 
fo-d of the Royal Engineers who 
was stationed here at the beginning 
of the nineteeenth century . Miss 
Durnford's sister married Mr. J. 
Dunscomb. the brother of Mrs. 
Bridge, who was the wife of the 
much esteemed Archdeacon Bridge, 
the mother of Admiral Bridge.

The town of St. John’s, in about 
the year 1800, presented an appear 
ance similar to an outpo t fishing 
village. The water-front was lined 
with fishing stages and the wharves 
of merchants. Water Street extend­
ed unbrokenly from the cove, now 
known as Job’s Cove, but then cal­
led the “Watering Cove’’ and after­
wards Hv dson's Cove, to a little 
beyond Newman’s premises. It was 
a narrow street lined on the south 
side by the stores and shops of mer­
chants, and on the north side by 
small shops, only here and there, 
and not continuously. So narrow 
was this street in places, and par­
ticularly between where the Tele­

gram Oilice now stands and Mc­
Bride’s Hill, that two persons could 
easily grasp hands across it, and a 
cart could with difficulty be brought 
along. The hill or cliff prevented 
the widening of the street within 
this area at that time, it has sin:e 
been blasted away to permit the 
erections on the present line of 
street. At Prescott Street the hill 
continued from Duckworth Street 
out to the water’s edge, at the level 
of Duckworth Street, and after leav­
ing the street at Job's corner the 
pedestrian had to take to the land- 
wash to get further east. The same 
kind of projection occurred at Cus­
tom House Hill and what was then 
known as the King’s Beach extend­
ed nearly to the middle of the pres­
ent Water Street, on a level with 
Duckworth Street. When the 
King’s wharf was built in 1811 a 
large portion of the "Beach” was 
cut down, and it was again farther 
levelled in 1816 But few houses 
were built in the central portion of 
the town between King’s Road and 
McBride's Hill. Around and about 
Fort William, and along that por­
tion o" Duckworth Street situated 
between Ordnance Street and 
Cochrane Street, a number of smaTi 
dwellings were e'ected. The upper 
portion o" the town from Queen’s 
Street to Beck’s Cove, and back from 
Water Street, was covered wltn 
flakes and in the winter time the 
road under the flakes was protected 
from the heavy snow, but it was 
usually covered with a sheet of Ice. 
In the summer it was like a bog. 
The only houses that stood off of 
Water Street, between what fs 
known now as McBride’s Cove and 
Hutchings’ house, at Barking Ket­
tle, was Mr. Carte-’s house on Burst- 
heart Hill (now Carter’s Hill), Mr. 
Branscombe’s house, which stood 
back of where Mr. Smith built at
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the foot of Theatre Hill and a 
cooperage near Lion’s Square, back 
of where Mr E. F. Carter lives. As 
I said previous.y, all the space be­
tween McBride's Cove and Sprtn-- 
dale Street| on the north side of 
Water Street, was covered with 
flakes, which were reached from 
Water Street by overhead bridges 
one for many years stood near Cod- 
ner and ,)enning”s Cove (now Mon­
roe's Cove), and one near where 
Lash’s is. At McBride’s Cove, where 
the Bank of Montreal now stands, 
the road was so narrow that Mr. 
Renouf could, at his door, hold an 
ordinary tone conversation with 
his neighbor opposite.

The Military Road and King’s 
Road were opened up in the year 
1773, and Signal Hill Road in 
1794, and were merely good paths 
for some time after 1800. The 
roads which then extended into the 
country, were only pathways con­
necting with the various outlying 
settlements, and with several farm 
buildings. One path led to Pringle's 
Dale, and thence over Dover's 
(Robinson’s) Hill to Friendly Hall 
one to Boucher’s farm at River- 
head, and two to Quid! Vidi Lake. 
One is now the King’s Bridge Road, 
which was widened by the Military 
in 1798, when the building of the 
Royal Enginee-’s House was com- 
men ed. This building stood where 
is now the residence of Mr. John 
Browning. The ‘King's Bake-House,’ 
as It was called, which stood on the 
corner or Military Road and King’s 
Bridge Road, and the Ordnance 
buildings, were erected much ear­
lier; they were begun in 1794. The 
Commissariat House was built in 
1800, it is now known as St. 
Thomas’s Rectory. The law, prohib­
iting the erection of any house 
near the waterside excepting for

fishery purposes, and then of on!" 
one story in height, was so strict­
ly enforced that we find Gove-no • 
Mi H anks in 1 790 ordering Mr. 
Hut kings to remove a house which 
was e'eeted in opposition to Acts 
l()th and 11th of William III., and 
16th of George III. This Governor 
also informed Mr Hutchings: "1 am 
also directed not to allow any pos­
session as private property to be 
taken of or any right of property 
whatever to be acknowledged in 
any land whatever which is not 
actually employed in the fishery.”

The father of Sir Hugh Hoyles was 
subsequently ordered to pull down a 
house which he had built in the east­
ern part of the town. Neither Mr. 
Hutchings nor Mr. Hoyles obeyed the 
mandate; in the former case Governor 
Millbanke left the Colony without en­
forcing his order, and Mr. Hoyles 
stubbornly refused to comply with the 
order. It was not until 1813 that th 
Home Government ordered Governor 
Keates to grant titles to land- Where 
the Roman Catholic Cathedral stands 
and from thence down to and includ­
ing the ground upon which Govern­
ment House stands, was known as th; 
“Barrens,” and there the people re­
sorted in those days to pick the whor­
tleberry or “hurts.” Thick woods 
covered the banks of Quidl Vidi and 
what is known as the Forest Road 
was a pathway through the woods. 
Trees covered Signal Hill and the 
Southslde Hills, although the former 
is now bare of bushes, and the latter 
has only low scrub growing on it. 
Miss Durnford writing of 1809 says: 
“Approaching Newfoundland we v ere 
at once greeted by a fragrant land 
smell, and soon the abrupt features of 
its wild fir-clad shores came in view.’ 
Again she says, “England, sensible ot 
the value of this evergreen land, has



guarded it by a strong naval force." 
Again, ‘‘The heights over-looking 
the entrance to St John's are covered 
almost from water-line to summit 
with fir and spruce, and planted with 
batteries romantically situated. The 
raging surf of the Atlantic’s billows 
dashes against the embrasures of Am­
herst and Chalnrock batteries; lob­
sters of the finest flavour, and othei 
shell-fish are found in abundance 
amid the crevices of their shelving 
and slippery rocks, with hosts of mol- 
lusca; and the line of battleships, as 
well as the red-sailed fishing skiff 
come almost within arm’s reach of the 
cannon. Midway and crowning the 
eminence, guns commandingly point 
from the Queen's Battery,Fredrick Bat 
tery, and the lines on Signal! Hill; and 
other defensive positions are placed 
among wooded projections of capes 
and bays, fragrant with spruce, juni­
per, &c. Generally wherever the 
ground was laid open by clearance, 
the kalmia sprang up. an indigenous 
shrub or weed, brightening the wild­
erness witli Its pink clusters.Fantastic 
and delicate creepers present a trellis 
ed carpett to the feet that thread with­
in the sombre shade of the woods; 
and varieties of graceful shrubs pro­
duce spontaneously the cranberry or 
oxycoccus, whose Indian name is 
maskigo meino; the whortleberry or 
vaccinlum; the partridge or mitcheila. 
whose tiny wreath almost vies in 
beauty with that of the famed capil­
laire or llnnae, yet without the frag­
rance of the last; and the hardy little 
dogwood or cornus. There Is much 
to admire In the decoration of its hills 
and valleys, its ferns and Intricacies 
of wreathing foliage, clinging to and 
twining round tapering firs and valu­
able spruce trees. The beautiful white 
moss crushes beneath the test, and 
another species hangs in tufts among 
the branches’"

A few years ago the late Mr. John 
Score, whilst taking bog from Signal 
Hill,, near Headman’s Pond, uncovered 
numerous remains of spruce and 
birch trees, some of them of no mean 
grith.

In the days of 1800, and for many 
years after, only wood was burnt In 
St. John’s, and the hills were soon 
denuded to supply the wants of the 
people in the town and of the garri­
son stationed at Signal Hill.

The churches In existence in St. 
John’s In 1800 were the Anglican 
Church, whch stood nearly at the 
southwest corner of the square on 
which the Cathedral is now built. Its 
eastern end was where the monument 
stands near the flag-staff, and Its west 
ern end was on ground which has 
since been taken to make Church 
Hill. The first building placed there 
was erected in 1720, the second In 1759 
and was largely repaired in 1800. The 
‘‘old chapel," as It is fondly called by 
the Catholics who remember it, was 
built by Bishop O’Donel In 1785 and 
stood near where the Star of the Sea 
Hall now is. A Congregational Church 
stood on the site near the corner of 
Gower and Victoria Street; it was af­
terwards removed and was known by 
the past generation as the Temper­
ance Hall. It does not appear that 
a church of any other denomination 
existed here in 1800, the first Metho­
dist Church in St. John’s not having 
ben erected until 1816, although 
Methodism had been early established 
in Newfoundland.

No newspaper flourished in the Is­
land until the establishment of the 
Royal Gazette in 1807. A grammar 
school was established In 1799 under 
the care of the Rev. L. Anspach, and 
in 1802 two charity schools were open 
ed—one a Protestant and the other a 
Catholic school. There was no post
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office in existence, the first being es­
tablished in 1805 No protection was 
afforded from the numerous fires 
which occurred, and it was not until 
1804 that the town owned a fire en­
gine, which was presented by the 
Phoenix Insurance Co. of London, 
and thirty-five fire buckets were given 
by the British and Imperial Insurance 
Companies.

At that time everyone who stirred 
abroad after dark carried a lantern 
and a good stick. The military of­
ficers and the merchants and shop­
keepers. had frequent dinner and tea 
parties in the winter evenings, and It 
was not an uncommon occurrence to 
see the gentleman, who attended the 
former, winding their way home pre­
ceded by a servant carrying a lantern 
A story is told of a well-to-do mer­
chant walking, or trying to walk 
home, being met by a gentleman 
shortly after sunrise, in the rear of 
where Mr. Stott’s premises now 
stands. The merchant was preceded 
by a negro, who carried a lighted 
lantern, and who was thus loudly 
abused: “Pompey, you d—d nigger, 
why don’t you hold the lantern 
straight? I am sure you are drunk." 
“No massa," replied the negro, “I’se 
not drunk; specs de lantun am."

Fresh meat of any kind was very 
scarce, and not at all procurable in 
the summer time. From the old peo­
ple we learn that "Bublem’s Squeak” 
(a compound of corn beef and vege­
tables), "Colcannon" (potatoes and 
cabbage), “Twice Laid" (salt fish 
mashed with potatoes, butter, salt, 
etc'), “Vang" (fat pork cut up into 
small squares and fried in batter), 
and ‘‘brose’’ or “brewis" were 
amongst the dishes in vogue. Fresh 
fish in the summer time was one of 
the chief edibles indulged in by mas­

ter and servant alike- Hamburg 
bread, flour and pork, Irish pork, and 
English corn beef and flour were the 
principal food imports in 1800.

No encouragement had been given 
to agriculture, in fact the military of­
ficers were, for a long time, the only 
people who attempted cultivation of 
the soil. Governor Edwards (1780) 
had a very good garden near Govern­
ment House, in Duke York Street, 
"which yielded abundantly fruits and 
vegetables, equal in flavor and size to 
the most carefully cultivated produce 
of English gardening." In 1800 Mr. 
Thomas had a cleared place at Quidl 
Vldi, nearly opposite the grounds of 
the camp of the Newfoundland Regi­
ment; it was subsequetly known as 
"Prowse’s Farm." Colonel Pringle 
had a small farm (the late Sir James 
Winter’s place of residence), another 
existed at “Friendly Hall," and Bul- 
ley’s farm on Waterford Bridge Road, 
and a farm owned by Mr. Dunscomb 
(now Lester’s farm), were a few of 
the places known as farms about St. 
Johns at that period.

The Governor’s, up to 1800 and for 
years after, were all naval men. Up to 
1780 they served a term of three sum­
mers, retiring to England for the win­
ter. Upon the appointment of Govern 
or Edwards the term was changed to 
three years residence, and the ship- 
of-war. commanded at the time of ap­
pointment by the Governor, with top­
masts struck, was moored in the har­
bor about opposite Knowling’s prem­
ises. Those who remember the prem­
ises occupied by Messrs Knowling and 
R. Prowse & Sons, prior to the fire 
of 1892, will bring to mind the fact 
that an access to the waterside, from 
Water Street, was by an arch to the 
westward of R. Prowse & Sons, 
and by a crooked lane which was. on 
the south, built over. This was the old
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lane, opposite to which the Admiral’s 
ship was moored and was known as 
Man-o’-War’s Lane- A landing place 
was here fitted up tor the accommoda 
tion of the officers and men of H. M. 
ships. At what is now known as 
Job’s Cove a boom was placed, and 
there the boats of the warships obtain 
ed water from a brook which, running 
down on the west side of Prescott 
Street, discharged into that cove.

About 1825 the use of this water­
ing place was discontinued by the 
ships of war, and water for their use 
was obtained from the brook on the 
Southside, which still flows east of 
the Admiralty property now occupied 
by Bowring Brothers, and known as 
Mudge’s premises.

On the 5th February, 1806. the Be­
nevolent Irish Society was formed. 
Lt. Col. J. Murray. Jas. McBriare. 
John McKillop, Joseph Church and 
Capt. Winckworth Tonge were nam­
ed as a committee to draw up the 
rules and regulations for its govern­
ment.

On the 19th November, 1807, the 
Merchants Hall (the first Board of 
Trade) was opened. The rooms were 
advertised in the Royal Gazette, to 
open every day from 9 a.m. to 9 p.m. 
James McBraire (First) President and 
George Garland, Secretary.

On the 11th August, 1808, a Notice 
in the Royal Gazette announces that 
Doctor Carson will inoculate with the 
cow pock gratis to the children of 
the poor.

On the 17th October of the same 
year, D- Rennie, foreman of the Granu 
Jury, Supreme Court, recommended 
the erection of a powder magazine 
near Chain Rock. Shortly after, Mr. 
George Garland called a meeting at 
the Merchants Hall to initiate this

enterprise. A company was formed 
and 60 shares of 10 pounds each, were 
issued, not more than one share to be 
allocated to any one person.

On the 22nd June, 1809, a notice of 
the Dissolution of Partnership is ad­
vertised in the Royal Gazette.“The con 
cern lately carried on under the title 
of Patten, Baine & Co., was dissolved 
on the 20th February, all claims are 
to be paid by Walter Baine & Co."

On the 4th April, 1811, we are in­
formed that a new light house has 
been erected.

"Notice is hereby given that a light 
house is established at Fort Amherst 
on the southside entrance of this har­
bor, which will be lighted from the 
15th March to the 31st December in 
each year.

‘‘J. Dunscombe, N. Parker, Thos. 
Stabb, N. W. Hoyles, G. Robinson. 
Committee for Light Establishment."

In 1811 two rare visitants were seen 
in Newfoundland, the comet of that 
year and an English Duke. His Gracw 
the Duke of Manchester., being en 
route to his Government at Jamaica, 
spent a few days at St. Johns. In 
1812 the first local Insurance Society 
was formed. James O’Brien was Pre­
sident and N. W. Hoyles was Agent.

The year 1812 was the commence­
ment of a. stirring period in the his­
tory of St. John’s.

In June of that year war was de­
clared between the United States and 
Great Britain.

At the outbreak of the war there 
was three sail of the line, twenty-one 
frigates and thirty-seven sloops, brigs 
and schooners of war in St. John's 
alone. Lieut.-General, then Col. 
Durnford, in command of the Royal 
Engineers, threw up fresh batteries 
and repaired and improved, In some



cases entirely rebuilding, such as were 
falling to decay. The Queen's Bat­
tery and a large Block House on the 
south projection of Signal Hill were 
among the newly constructed; Fred­
rick, Amherst, and Chain Rock 
among those repaired and newly built. 
To carry on these works, continual 
excavations in the rock by means of 
gunpowder were necessary, and Col. 
Durnford had frequent cause to la­
ment the fool-hardiness of the work­
men, who would linger after the warn 
ing horn had told that the slow match 
was lit. A sapper was blown up by 
Its exploding force, entirely In conse­
quence of the mans own dearly paid 
for neglect. An eye-witness said “the 
explosion was so great that the man's 
body was hurled in the air.” The offi­
cer commanding the troops at this 
period was General Francis Moore, 
to whom Col. Durnford acted as aide- 
de-camp whilst he was on this station- 

Although intimately connected by 
trade with the United States a loyal 
enthusiasm prevailed amongst the peo 
pie of Newfound'and, and on the out­
break of hostilities the Loyal New­
foundland Rangers, which was organ­
ized in 1806, but had fallen into a dis­
organized state, was reconstructed. 
The following were the officers; Ma­
jor McBraire, Commandant; Capts. 
Bouchier, T. William, Lily, McAllis­
ter, G. R. Robinson, Crawford, Hayn­
es, Ryan, Trimmingam, Thomas; Lieu 
tenants Millidge, Broom, Stewart Mc- 
Lea, Simpson. Livingston, Grieve, 
Arnott, Clift, Shannon; Ensigns Mor­
ris, McCalman, Rendell, Scott, Willis. 
Maglll,Niven Lang; Adjutant Hughes; 
Quartermaster Barnes; Surgeon, Dr. 
Duggan. The regular troops number­
ed about 760 men. Vessels of marque 
were fitted out by the merchants in 
St. John’s, and kept at bay the num­
bers of Yankee privateers which vis­
ited our coast.

In August of 1812, whilst the British 
fleet was engaged off the coast and in 
convoying merchantmen, an American 
armed vessel appeared off St. John’s, 
and very near to the entrance. This 
gratly alarmed the merchants, who 
immediately applied to General Moort 
for the aid of fifty volunteers from 
the troops in garrison, who decided 
that each corps should furnish a pro­
portionate quota. Two corporals and 
six privates of sappers cheerfully 
joined the other detachments, and em­
barked in a brig fitted out by the mer­
chants. As soon as the Americans saw 
the movement of the British vessel, it 
took its departure, and was not again 
seen.

The winter of 1812 was a very se­
vere one. Miss Durnford says: "Deep 
snow and high drifts debarred, during 
the long winter months, all field exer­
cise to the troops, and fearful at this 
season were the risks to which sol­
diers on duty, visiting officers, and re­
lieving parties were exposed. Dur­
ing that winter the sentinel was not 
unfrequently found frozen to death, 
and while the tempest of a poudree 
was battling, life was often hazarded 
in visiting by night the various detach 
ed posts. While the intense frost 
hung with icicles the breath from the 
nostrils and lips, and nipt with the 
pang of extreme cold the extremities 
of the human body, the strict discip­
line of war was maintained at St. 
John's and no relaxation of its sever­
ity permitted. To assist in keeping 
alive the spirit of the troops, during 
the tedium of the dreary winter 
months, a mock fight was sometimes 
carried on upon the Lake of Quid! 
Vidi, and the Irish game of hurley 
was encouraged whenever the sea in 
the harbor was frozen, or became ice­
bound.

Again Miss Durnford gives us some 
information about the rejoicings and
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otherwise, on the receipt of war news. 
She says: “While war flapped its lur­
id wings over Europe and America— 
and never was purpose more righte­
ous than that which opposed its pro­
gress—every honest man’s heart re­
sponded to the virtuous obligation 
and awakening call. Indignation swell 
ed, but the more at each rumour of its 
reverses, and the joy with which the 
news of a victory was received, gained 
acknowledgement at St. John’s, and 
was rendered in the individual pride 
and ecstasy accompanying the salute 
and volley, pealing from its rock- 
planted batteries, and strongest mus­
tered parades; cheerfully commenced 
by the ships of war lying in the har­
bor. filled up by enthusiastic cheers 
from the seamen and troops, each 
crag and rock echoing loudly every 
discharge. Col. Dunford took plea­
sure in studying himself and exercis­
ing the sappers under his command in 
tactics, whenever leisure permitted; 
sparing himself no fatigue in bearing 
a share in the garrison duty, often in 
this severe climate amounting to dan­
gerous, though such duty was not 
strictly required from his corps. He 
often spoke with satisfaction of a pa­
rade on the commemoration of a sig­
nal overthrow Napoleon had sustain­
ed, where his newly practised sappers 
displayed great steadiness when form­
ed In line with the Newfoundland regi­
ment. Three volleys were to be fired; 
and when the commandant's first 
word of command was misunderstood 
by the rest of the line, and a scatter­
ed irregular fire in consequence giv­
en, the company of sappers reserved 
their fire to a man until ordered vo 
arm, to post and shoulder, when the 
volley was properly executed, elicit­
ing on the field the verbal approba­
tion of the General. Colonel Durn- 
ford took his regular turn in the gar­
rison duty, first as Captain, latterly

as Field Officer. He took pleasure in 
the morning parades; and whilst per­
forming the services of an aide-de- 
camp, prided himself in mounting on 
these occasions an old charger of the 
Duke of Kent’s—a faithful bay, that In 
memory of gone by distinction, al­
ways persisted in stepping foremost 
of the General’s staff."

Miss Durnford says that her father 
was fond of horticulture. “Several 
wild patches, to which he devoted at­
tention, yielded abundantly fruit and 
vegetables, equal in flavor and size to 
the most carefully cultivated produce 
of English gardening. No market or 
fair was to be depended on from 
soil calling vainly for cultivation; 
each man was of necessity his own 
farmer, did he desire to eat fresh mut­
ton, pork, fowls or egg6; and the 
luxury of milk must be supplied by 
his own cows. My mother was fortun 
ate in having her pianoforte, an In­
strument which was a novelty in the 
island, twice tuned by naval officers. 
One was Sir William Parker, a young 
married lieutenant attached to the 
Admirals flag-ship; the other, brother 
to the English composer Bishop, and 
purser of one of the frigates."

A fire, which occurred In the woods 
near St. John’s during the summer 
of 1812, caused no little anxiety for a 
time to the inhabitants; but the mili­
tary turned out and fought the flames, 
their efforts, with a change of wind, 
prevented them spreading to the town. 
In fact at that period fires were rath­
er of frequent occurrence in St. 
John’s and the military were always 
foremost in combating the destroying 
element. In 1812, and for some years 
after, the public were notified by beat 
of alarm drum that a fire was in pro­
gress. The grants of some land for 
the purpose of agriculture, and a 
threatened plague of smallpox which



began in Harbor Grace, but was hap­
pily prevented from spreading, were 
among the notable events which clos­
ed the year 1812 in St. John’s.

To tell of the games of ‘'hurley" 
played on the harbor during the win­
ter by the men-of-war sailors and the 
Irish youngsters, and on Quid! Vldi 
by the troops ; of the faction fights; of 
the Yule-tide sports and the many old

customs brought to this country by 
the English and Irish youngsters, 
would take much more time than is at 
my disposal.

In closing this lecture I thank you 
for the patient hearing you have giv­
en me and I trust that I have not wear 
led you and that you have been inter­
ested in my attempt to give you an 
account of Ancient St. John’s.


